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The Sixth Amendment provides in part that “[i]n all criminal

prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of

Counsel for his defence.”  U.S. Const. amend. VI.  “At the pre-indictment stage,

appellant’s sixth Amendment rights have not attached; . . .”  In Re Grand Jury

Subpoena Served Upon Doe, 781 F.2d 238, 243 (2d Cir. 1986).  See also Kirby

v. Illinois, 406 U.S. 682, 688 (1972) (plurality opinion):

[t]he initiation of judicial criminal proceedings is far from a mere
formalism. It is the starting point of our whole system of adversary
criminal justice. For it is only then that the government has
committed itself to prosecute, and only then that the adverse
positions of government and defendant have solidified. It is then
that a defendant finds himself faced with the prosecutorial forces
of organized society, and immersed in the intricacies of substantive
and procedural criminal law. It is this point, therefore, that marks
the commencement of the ‘criminal prosecutions' to which alone
the explicit guarantees of the Sixth Amendment are applicable.

Kirby, 406 U.S. at 689-90.

A criminal prosecution has been initiated when a formal charge,

preliminary hearing, indictment, information, or arraignment has been filed or

has occurred.  Doe, 781 F.2d at 244.  The Sixth Amendment right to counsel

does not attach during a grand jury investigation of an unindicted target.  Id.

(citing United States v. Mandujano, 425 U.S. 564, 581 (1976) (dicta in a

plurality opinion); and In Re Groban, 352 U.S. 330, 333 (1957) (dictum)).

The burden of proving a Sixth Amendment violation rests with the

defendant.  See Kuhlmann v. Wilson, 477 U.S. 436, 459 (1986) (from which one

infers that it is the defendant’s burden); Moore v. United States, 178 F.3d 994,
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999 (8  Cir.), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 943 (1999) (reciting that it is theth

defendant’s burden to prove a Sixth Amendment violation).

In this case, the conversations between law enforcement and

Mr. Marshall on December 26, 2003, took place nearly five years before the

government indicted Mr. Marshall in August, 2008.  Therefore, the rights

provided under the Sixth Amendment did not attach as to Mr. Marshall until

that August, 2008, indictment was handed down.  It follows, then, that law

enforcement could not have violated Mr. Marshall’s Sixth Amendment rights

five years before those rights had materialized. 

In support of his motion, Mr. Marshall cites no cases that are factually

apposite.  All are distinguishable.  Mr. Marshall cites Massiah v. United States,

377 U.S. 201 (1964); Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981); and Brewer v.

Williams, 430 U.S. 387 (1977).  However, in all three of those cases, the

respective defendants had already been formally charged and had either

retained counsel or had asserted the right to counsel at the time law

enforcement interrogated them.  See Edwards, 451 U.S. at 478-49; Brewer, 430

U.S. at 398-99; Massiah, 377 U.S. at 201-03.  Therefore, because formal

judicial proceedings against the defendants had been initiated in these cases,

the defendants’ Sixth Amendment rights had attached at the time each was

interrogated.  Mr. Marshall had not been indicted at the time he spoke with

Mr. Ecoffey, and the facts of his case are therefore distinguishable.



Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).  The holding in Miranda is1

that, prior to conducting custodial interrogation of a suspect, police must
advise the suspect that he has the right to remain silent, that anything he says
can and will be used against him in court, that he has a right to have counsel
present at the interrogation, and that if he cannot afford to hire an attorney,
then an attorney will be appointed to represent him.  Id. at 467-79.  Once the
advisement is given, police are permitted to interrogate only if the suspect
makes a voluntary and knowing waiver of the rights he has just been advised
of.  Id.  A suspect is considered to be “in custody” when he is under arrest, or
under other circumstances restricting the suspect’s freedom to a degree
associated with formal arrest.  Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 442 (1984).
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In another case cited by Mr. Marshall in support of his motion, Moran v.

Burbine, 475 U.S. 412 (1986), the defendant had been arrested for a burglary

at the time police questioned him about a murder.  Id. at 415-18.  He neither

retained a lawyer nor asserted his right to counsel when law enforcement read

him his Miranda  rights, which he agreed to waive.  Id.  Although the defendant1

was given access to a telephone, he declined to use it.  Id.  Unbeknownst to the

defendant, his sister had hired a lawyer to represent him on the burglary

charges.  Id.  The attorney contacted the police, who falsely told the attorney

that no interview would take place.  Id.  Following a series of police interviews,

the defendant ultimately signed three incriminating written statements as to

the murder.  Id.  The defendant unsuccessfully moved to suppress the

statements.  Id. at 418.

The Supreme Court held that the defendant’s waiver of his Miranda

rights was freely and voluntarily made and that the fact that the defendant was

unaware of the attorney’s phone call did not affect this conclusion.  Id. at 424,
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428.  As to the defendant’s argument that the interrogation violated his right to

counsel under the Sixth Amendment, the Court noted that the interrogation

took place before the defendant was charged with the crime of murder.  Id. at

428-29.  The Court concluded that, because a defendant’s Sixth Amendment

right to counsel does not attach until the defendant is formally charged, there

could be no Sixth Amendment violation under these circumstances.  Id.  

The defendant in Moran specifically argued that the fact that he had not

yet been formally charged with murder was not fatal to his Sixth Amendment

argument.  Id.  He argued that the integrity of the attorney-client relationship

should be protected, at least in some situations such as custodial

interrogation, even where formal charges have not yet been asserted by the

government.  Id. at 429.  The Court rejected this position.  Id.   The Court

explained that the Sixth Amendment, “[b]y its very terms, . . . become[s]

applicable only when the government’s role shifts from investigation to

accusation.  For it is only then that the assistance of one versed in the

‘intricacies . . . of law,’ is needed to assure that the prosecution’s case

encounters ‘the crucible of meaningful adversarial testing.’ ” Id. at 430 (quoting

United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 656 (1984)).  Furthermore, citing Maine

v. Moulton, 474 U.S. 159 (1985), also relied upon by Mr. Marshall in his brief,

the Court stated that the fact that a defendant is represented by an attorney

even though he has not yet been indicted does not change the Sixth



The Montejo decision was issued nine days before Mr. Marshall filed his2

motion and more than a month prior to the government’s responsive brief.
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Amendment analysis.  Id. at 431.  Mr. Marshall has thus failed to carry his

burden of demonstrating that law enforcement violated his Sixth Amendment

rights when statements were elicited from him on December 26, 2003.

Mr. Marshall’s argument, though nominally based on the Sixth

Amendment, really seems more akin to the rules of ethics governing lawyers. 

Under those rules, an attorney who knows that a party is represented is

forbidden from communicating with that party in the absence of the party’s

attorney about the substance of the attorney’s representation.  See American

Bar Association Model Rule of Professional Conduct 4.2.  However, ethical rules

governing the conduct of attorneys do not supplant the analysis under the

Sixth Amendment, as the Supreme Court recently held in Montejo v. Louisiana,

___ U.S. ___, 129 S. Ct. 2079, 2087-88 (2009), a case cited by neither

Mr. Marshall nor the government in their briefs.2

In Montejo, the defendant had been charged and an attorney had been

appointed by the state court to represent him, but the record was devoid of any

evidence that Montejo had ever asked for an attorney or otherwise affirmatively

asserted his right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment.  Id. at 2082-83.  In

arguing that his Sixth Amendment rights had been violated by the police when

they questioned him in the absence of his lawyer after his initial court



The police read Montejo his Miranda rights and he waived those rights3

before speaking to the police.  Montejo, 129 S. Ct. at 2082.  Even though,
under the facts of Montejo, the Sixth Amendment right to counsel had
attached, the Court held that the police could appropriately ask Montejo to
waive his right to counsel after it had attached (in large part because the record
was unclear as to whether Montejo had ever affirmatively invoked his right to
counsel).  Id. at 2090-91.  The Court continued to adhere to the Fifth
Amendment rule, announced in Edwards, supra, that once a defendant clearly
and unequivocally invokes his right to counsel after formal charges have been
brought, police may not initiate contact with the defendant and ask him again
to waive that right.  Id. at 2091-92.
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appearance, Montejo urged the Court to adopt the position that police should

never have contact with a represented defendant in the absence of his lawyer.  3

Id. at 2083-91.  

Noting that Montejo’s position had its “theoretical roots” in the ABA

model rule noted above, the Court declined to hold that those model rules had

any application to Sixth Amendment analysis.  Id. at 2087-89.  First, the Court

noted that the Model Rules of Professional Conduct govern the actions of

attorneys and that the police who interrogated Montejo were not attorneys. 

Second, the Court noted that under the Model Rules, an attorney would be

guilty of an ethical violation for talking to a represented party even if the

represented party was the one who initiated contact with the attorney.  Id.  By

contrast, under established Sixth Amendment precedent, police may

interrogate a defendant in a criminal case who is represented by counsel if the

defendant is the one who initiates contact.  Id. 



For example, the Fifth Amendment is the basis of the holding in4

Miranda.  It is also the basis of the rule that coerced statements are not
admissible.  Mr. Marshall never asserts that his interview with the police on
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In this case, like Montejo, the police officer who interrogated

Mr. Marshall on December 26, 2003, was not a lawyer and, thus, was not

bound by the ABA Model Rules.  In addition, because the Sixth Amendment

had not attached, there was no prohibition against the police contacting

Mr. Marshall in the absence of his lawyer.  Mr. Marshall has cited to no

precedent that would support an extension of the Sixth Amendment beyond its

well-established boundaries to cover the facts surrounding the making of his

statement on December 26, 2003.  Because Mr. Marshall’s Sixth Amendment

argument fails as a matter of law, no evidentiary hearing is necessary.  This

court recommends denial of his suppression motion on the briefs alone.

The entirety of the legal analysis and factual discussion in Mr. Marshall’s

pleadings are devoted to his Sixth Amendment argument.  However, at the

bottom of page three of Mr. Marshall’s memorandum of law in support of his

motion, there is literally a bare citation to the Fifth Amendment.  See Docket

403, at page 3.  From this bare citation to the Fifth Amendment, the court is

unable to discern whether Mr. Marshall is indeed making an argument to

suppress based on the Fifth Amendment.  Mr. Marshall never discusses which

aspect, if any, of his Fifth Amendment rights he believes the government to

have violated.   He never discusses any legal authority analyzing the Fifth4



December 26, 2003, was a custodial interrogation necessitating the advisement
of Miranda rights.  He also never argues any facts or legal authority to the
effect that police coerced him into making the statements he made on that
date.
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Amendment.  He never asserts any facts which the court could interpret as

supporting a Fifth Amendment argument of any kind.  The court will not be in

the position of guessing what the basis of Mr. Marshall’s Fifth Amendment

argument is, if it is being asserted at all.  

Accordingly, although the court recommends denial of Mr. Marshall’s

suppression motion in all respects, Mr. Marshall will be given fourteen days

from the date of this report to file a supplemental brief to explain his Fifth

Amendment argument if indeed he is asserting such an argument.  If no brief

is filed within the given time frame, Mr. Marshall shall be waiving any

argument to suppress based upon the Fifth Amendment.  The government

shall have seven days to respond to any supplemental brief filed by

Mr. Marshall.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussion, the court hereby recommends that

Mr. Marshall’s motion to suppress [Docket No. 402] be denied in its entirety. 

In the event Mr. Marshall files a supplemental brief on the issue of any

argument premised on the Fifth Amendment, the court will issue a

supplemental report and recommendation on that claim.
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NOTICE TO PARTIES

The parties have fourteen (14) days after service of this report and

recommendation to file written objections pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(B),

unless an extension of time for good cause is obtained.  See Fed. R. Crim. P.

59(b); 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(B).  Failure to file timely objections will result in the

waiver of the right to appeal questions of fact.  Id.  Objections must be timely

and specific in order to require de novo review by the district court.  See

Thompson v. Nix, 897 F.2d 356 (8  Cir. 1990); Nash v. Black, 781 F.2d 665 (8th th

Cir. 1986).

Dated December 10, 2009.

BY THE COURT: 

/s/ Veronica L. Duffy
VERONICA L. DUFFY
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE



  

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA

WESTERN DIVISION
_________________________________

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
CR 08-50079

Plaintiff,                 
         UNITED STATES’ RESPONSE TO

vs. DEFENDANT MARSHALL’S
FOURTH MOTION FOR SEVERANCE; 

JOHN GRAHAM, a/k/a REQUEST FOR SPEEDY TRIAL
JOHN BOY PATTON and
VINE RICHARD MARSHALL a/k/a
RICHARD VINE MARSHALL a/k/a
DICK MARSHALL,  

Defendants.
_________________________________

COMES NOW the United States of America, through its attorneys, United

States Attorney Brendan V. Johnson, and Assistant United States Attorney Robert

A. Mandel, and responds to defendant Marshall’s fourth motion for severance;

request for speedy trial as follows:

1.  The trial of this case will be both extensive in terms of its length and a

significant burden to many of the witnesses that will have to travel to Rapid City to

testify.  Based on the estimates of time made by counsel to the Court, this trial

could last as long as three weeks.  Defendant Marshall now seeks severance, which

the United States resists.



2.  As defense counsel noted, on November 4, 2009, the United States Court

of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit denied the petition in which the United States

sought a rehearing on the dismissal of the charges against co-defendant John

Graham, in which he was charged as an aider and abettor. The United States has

90 days in which to file a petition for certiorari in this case, in the event that it

chooses to do so.

3.  Defendant claims that this Court has given clear notice to the United

States that it would grant a motion for a judgment of acquittal if the United States

were to proceed to trial against Graham on the remaining counts.  The United

States takes issue with that and believes that there is evidence both that Graham

could be considered an Indian for the purposes of jurisdiction under 18 U.S.C. §

1153 and also that the victim, Annie Mae Pictou Aquash, could be considered an

Indian for the purposes of jurisdiction under 18 U.S.C. § 1152.  While recognizing

that a difference of opinion can exist as to these issues, the United States disagrees

with the suggestion made by defense counsel that it could not ethically proceed

with a trial of Graham in federal court.  

4.  It is the position of the United States that to grant severance at this time

would be inappropriate.  Once various issues regarding Graham are resolved, the

United States agrees that it would be appropriate to revisit the matters raised by

defendant.



Therefore, the United States requests defendant’s motion be denied.

Respectfully submitted this 14th day of December, 2009.

 /s/ Robert A. Mandel  
                                                                   
ROBERT A. MANDEL
Assistant United States Attorney
515 9th Street #201
Rapid City, SD 57701
605.342..7822
FAX: 605.342.1108
Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on the 14th day of December, 2009, I served by electronic
transmission, a true and correct copy of the foregoing United States’ Response to
Defendant Marshall’s Fourth Motion for Severance; Request for Speedy Trial on:

Dana Hanna
Attorney at Law

John Murphy
Attorney at law

    /s/ Robert A. Mandel
                                                          
Robert A. Mandel
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

~i~, 
DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

WESTERN DIVISION 

****************************************************************************** 
* 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,� * CR 08-50079 

* 
Plaintiff,� *� 

*� 
vs.� ORDER* 

* 
JOHN GRAHAM, a/k1a/ John Boy Patton, * 
VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, aJkIa * 
Richard Vine Marshall, a/k1a * 
Dick Marshall, * 

* 
Defendant. * 

* 
****************************************************************************** 

Pending before the Court is a Motion to Compel Disclosure of Witness, doc. 380, filed by 

Defendant Marshall. Marshall asks the Court to order the government to investigate, discover and 

disclose the identity ofan individual who wrote two pages ofnotes contained in discovery materials 

provided to Marshall by the government. Marshall speculates that the notes were taken during an 

interview of Arlo Looking Cloud. He wishes to call the writer as a witness to impeach Looking 

Cloud's testimony at trial because he believes Looking Cloud made statements which are 

inconsistent with the notes. In the motion to compel, Marshall's lawyer talks about communications 

he had with the Assistant United States Attorney, Robert Mandel, regarding the handwritten notes. 

Mandel informed Marshall's lawyer that his efforts to locate the writer of the two pages of notes 

have been unsuccessful, and that he has "no idea" who wrote the notes. 

The Court reviewed the two pages of notes and cannot determine whether they are from an 

interview ofLooking Cloud. The notes could be from a variety ofthings. The government provided 

the defense with the notes, and there is no indication that the government is withholding any 

favorable evidence in violation of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). Marshall cites no 



authority for the proposition that the government is required to find the author ofthe notes, and the 

Court finds that the government does not have a duty to conduct further investigation to determine 

who wrote the notes. Accordingly, 

IT IS ORDERED that the Motion to Compel Disclosure of Witness, doc. 380, is 
denied. 

"(\ 
Dated this l1 -day of December, 2009. 

BY THE COURTD Co 

~{Ut,lu..ut.l,.{UA~CL 

\i:awrence L. Piersol 
United States District Judge 

ATTEST: 
JOSEPH HAAS, CLERK 

• 

BY~M4-14#.t·b~ 
DEPUTY 

2� 



tJLEDUNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DEC ~ 7 2009 
DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

WESTERN DIVISION 

****************************************************************************** 
* 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,� * CR 08-50079 

* 
Plaintiff,� *� 

*� 
vs.� ORDER* 

* 
JOHN GRAHAM, a/k/a/ John Boy Patton, * 
VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, a/k/a * 
Richard Vine Marshall, a/k/a * 
Dick Marshall, * 

* 
Defendant. * 

* 
****************************************************************************** 

Pending before the Court are three related motions filed by Defendant Marshall: 1) Motion 

for Evidentiary Hearing on Destruction of Evidence and for Sanctions, doc. 434; 2) Motion to 

Compel Disclosure ofImpeachment Evidence, doc. 436 and; 3) Motion to Dismiss Indictment for 

Government's Failure to Preserve and Disclose Favorable Evidence, doc. 507. All three motions 

arise from the Denver Police Department's apparent inadvertent destruction ofevidence relating to 

the investigation into the murder of Anna Mae Aquash. Marshall asserts that the government has 

not provided him or co-defendant Graham with any information about the destruction of the 

evidence. 

In 2003, the Denver Police Department publicly acknowledged that in 2001 they had 

destroyed files and records containing evidence from the Aquash murder investigation. In 1995, Abe 

Alonzo, a detective with the Denver Police Department, drove Looking Cloud from Denver to the 

crime scene to meet with Marshal Ecoffey, then drove Looking Cloud back to Denver. Marshall's 

lawyer asserts that a witness has lead him to believe that notes, records and evidence of statements 

made by Arlo Looking Cloud to Alonzo during that trip were among the evidence destroyed. 



The government responded to this motion, stating that the Denver Police Department only 

provided assistance to the United States in its investigation, and that all evidence in the custody of 

the Denver Police Department was also in the custody of the United States and was provided to the 

defendants as discovery in this case. According to the government, except for one interview of 

Frank Dillon, no part of the investigation was conducted by Denver Police Department officials 

which was not in the presence of Marshal Ecoffey or a Deputy Marshal. 

Marshall's reply to the government's response includes a copy of a transcript of a recorded 

interview of Aquash's sister, Mary Lafford, which Alonzo conducted on 1998. The government 

provided a copy of the transcript to Marshall in discovery. The transcript indicates that Alonzo 

conducted the interview by himself, which contradicts the government's statement that only Frank 

Dillon was interviewed without the presence of a federal official. Marshall's reply also includes a 

page ofa transcript where Alonzo is advising government informant Kamook Nichols before she met 

with Looking Cloud and secretly recorded their conversation, which may suggest Alonzo was acting 

outside the presence of federal officials. Marshall points out that Alonzo recorded his interviews of 

Dillon and Lafford, but the tape or video recordings of those interviews, as well as of an interview 

ofJulian Pokrywka (Theda Clark's husband), have not been provided to the defendants. Marshall's 

lawyer thinks this is proof that the Denver police at one time had custody of evidence - - such as 

audio and video tape recordings of the witness interviews - - that is not also in the custody of the 

Untied States and that was not disclosed to the defendants. 

Marshall's reply calls into question whether all evidence in the custody ofthe Denver Police 

Department was also in the custody ofthe United States and was provided to the defendants in this 

case. Accordingly, 

IT IS ORDERED that Defendant Marshall's Motion for Evidentiary Hearing on 
Destruction ofEvidence and for Sanctions, doc. 434; Motion to Compel Disclosure 
of Impeachment Evidence, doc. 436 and; Motion to Dismiss Indictment for 
Government's Failure to Preserve and Disclose Favorable Evidence, doc. 507, are 
granted to the extent that the government shall re-contact the Denver Police 
Department to determine what evidence was gathered by Denver police and what 
evidence was destroyed. The government also shall obtain information regarding the 

2� 



Denver Police Department's investigation of the evidence destruction, such as what 
evidence was retrieved and what was not. The information received by the 
government from the Denver Police Department shall be provided to the defendants. 

Dated this \ '11y of December, 2009. 

BY THE COURT~ D-..
llUlk1.utU Lu,~ 

wrence L. Piersol 
United States District Judge 

ATTEST: 
JOSEPH HAAS, CLERK . 
BY~~~~.tL~ 

DEPUTY 

3� 



UNTIED STATES DISTRICT COURT
    DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA
            WESTERN DIVISION

______________________________________________________________________________
*

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, * CR. 08-50079-01 
*

           Plaintiff, * DEFENDANT’S REQUEST FOR
*          PRELIMINARY INSTRUCTION ON 

vs. * READ BACK OF TESTIMONY
*

RICHARD MARSHALL, *
*

           Defendant, *
*

______________________________________________________________________________

NOW COMES the Defendant Richard Marshall, by and through his attorney of record,

Dana L. Hanna, and  hereby moves the Court to give the jury a preliminary instruction that the

court will allow read back of testimony to the jury during deliberation. 

As grounds for the motion, attorney Dana L. Hanna hereby affirms: 

1. Generally, whether to allow the court reporter to read back testimony to the jury, if the

jury so requests, during deliberations, is a matter within the discretion of the trial court. United

States v. Bear Ribs, 722 F.2d 420, 422 (8  Circ. 1983); Stone v. United States, 506 F.2d 561 (8th th

Cir. 1975). 

2. This is a murder trial in which the sentence, if there were to be a conviction, would be a

mandatory sentence of life in prison. 

3. All parties are likely to call several witnesses. The trial is likely to last 2 or 3 weeks. 

4. Given the length of the trial and the number of witnesses, it will be difficult for even the

most conscientious jurors to accurately recall specifics details of witness testimony that they may
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have heard 2 weeks prior to deliberations.

4.   There is no good reason to deny the jury the right to hear the verbatim testimony of any

witness it wants to hear in order that they find the facts in this case. If a jury requests a read back,

it indicates that there is likely to be a difference of opinion, based on the imperfections of

memory, as to what the testimony was. Allowing jurors to request the read back of testimony

would serve the interests of justice and enhance the integrity of the fact finding process.

WHEREFORE, the defendant Marshall moves the Court to give the jury a preliminary

instruction that they will be allowed to hear testimony read back to them during deliberations, if

they so request.

Dated this 8  day of January, 2010th

RICHARD MARSHALL, Defendant

          BY:   /s/ Dana L. Hanna                
       Dana L. Hanna
       P.O. Box 3080
       Rapid City, SD 57709
       (605) 791-1832
       dhanna@midconetwork.com
       Attorney for Defendant Richard Marshall

mailto:dhanna@midconetwork.com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I a true and correct copy of the foregoing Document was electronically
served upon the other parties in this case via the electronic mail addresses listed below:

Robert Mandel, Assistant United States Attorney
Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov

John Murphy, Attorney for Defendant Graham
jmurphysd@hotmail.com

Dated this 8  day of January, 2010.th

/s/ Dana L. Hanna             
Dana L. Hanna

mailto:Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov
mailto:jmurphysd@hotmail.com


UNTIED STATES DISTRICT
COURT DISTRICT OF SOUTH
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*

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, *                       CR. 08-50079-01
*

Plaintiff,                      *
* DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR 

v. * PRELIMINARY INSTRUCTION ON
* READ BACK OF TESTIMONY
*

RICHARD MARSHALL, *
*

           Defendant, *
*

______________________________________________________________________________

NOW COMES the Defendant Richard Marshall, by and through his attorney of record,

Dana L. Hanna, and  hereby moves the Court to give the jury a preliminary instruction that the

court will allow read back of testimony to the jury during deliberation. 

As grounds for the motion, attorney Dana L. Hanna hereby affirms:

1. Generally, whether to allow the court reporter to read back testimony to the jury, if the

jury so requests, during deliberations, is a matter within the discretion of the trial court. United

States v. Bear Ribs, 722 F.2d 420, 422 (8  Circ. 1983); Stone v. United States, 506 F.2d 561 (8th th

Cir. 1975). 

2. This is a murder trial in which the sentence, if there were to be a conviction, would be
a mandatory sentence of life in prison. 

3. All parties are likely to call several witnesses. The trial is likely to last 2 or 3 weeks. 

4. Given the length of the trial and the number of witnesses, it will be difficult for even
the
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most conscientious jurors to accurately recall specifics details of witness testimony that they may

have heard 2 weeks prior to deliberations.

4.   There is no good reason to deny the jury the right to hear the verbatim testimony of

any witness it wants to hear in order that they find the facts in this case. If a jury requests a read

back, it indicates that there is likely to be a difference of opinion, based on the imperfections of

memory, as to what the testimony was. Allowing jurors to request the read back of testimony

would serve the interests of justice and enhance the integrity of the fact finding process.

WHEREFORE, the defendant Marshall moves the Court to give the jury a preliminary

instruction that they will be allowed to hear testimony read back to them during deliberations, if

they so request.

Dated this 11  day of January, 2010  th

RICHARD MARSHALL, Defendant

          BY:   /s/ Dana L. Hanna 
      DanaL.Hanna  
      P.O. Box 3080
      Rapid City, SD 57709           
      (605) 791-1832            
dhanna@midconetwork.com

Attorney for Defendant Richard Marshall

mailto:dhanna@midconetwork.com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I have served a true and correct copy of the foregoing Document was
electronically served upon the other parties in this case via the electronic mail addresses listed
below:

Robert Mandel, Assistant United States
Attorney Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov

John Murphy, Attorney for Defendant
Graham jmurphysd@hotmail.com

Dated this 11  day of January, 2010.th

/s/ Dana L. Hanna 
Dana L. Hanna

mailto:Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov
mailto:jmurphysd@hotmail.com
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA

WESTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

vs.

JOHN GRAHAM, a.k.a.
JOHN BOY PATTON, and
VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, a.k.a.
RICHARD VINE MARSHALL, a.k.a.
DICK MARSHALL, 

Defendants.

Case No. CR 08-50079

DEFENDANT MARSHALL’S
MOTION TO PRECLUDE USE 

OF FALSE TESTIMONY;
MOTION FOR PRE-TRIAL
EVIDENTIARY HEARING

NOW COMES Defendant Richard Marshall, by and through his attorney Dana L. Hanna,

and pursuant to his constitutional rights to a fair trial and due process of law, respectfully moves

the Court to enter an order to prohibit the government from offering the testimony of Fritz Arlo

Looking Cloud at trial, on the grounds that the government knows or has good reason to know

that Looking Cloud will knowingly give false testimony as to material facts; specifically, the

government knows or has good reason to know that Looking Cloud will give false exculpatory

testimony in which he will falsely deny his own proven criminal culpability in the murder of

Anna Mae Pictou Aquash. 

The Defendant further moves the Court to order a pre-trial evidentiary hearing on this

motion, if the government contests the fact that it knows or has good reason to know that

Looking Cloud will give false exculpatory testimony when he is questioned in trial about his own

guilt and intent to murder Aquash. 

As grounds for this motion, Dana L. Hanna, attorney for the Defendant, hereby affirms:

1. The key prosecution witness in the government’s case against Richard Marshall is

convicted murderer Fritz Arlo Looking Cloud. In 2004, Looking Cloud was convicted after trial

of murder in the first degree for murdering or aiding and abetting the murder of Anna Mae Pictou
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Aquash in December 1975. Looking Cloud is presently serving a life sentence for his crime. He

agreed to testify as a government witness in 2008.

2.   I hereby affirm that I have a good faith reasonable belief that the government knows

or should know that Looking Cloud intends to give testimony that the government knows is false

in the trial of Richard Marshall.  I make these affirmations on the basis of reliable information

and belief, the sources of which include, but are not limited to: statements made to me by

Assistant United States Attorney (AUSA) Robert Mandel; tape-recorded conversations made

from jail between Looking Cloud and his wife, friends and relatives; transcripts of statements

made by Looking Cloud to the government’s prosecuting attorney before two grand juries;

official court records in this case, the case of United States v. Looking Cloud, CR #03-50020,

and in Arlo Looking Cloud’s pending habeas action in this court, CV #06-5062; the

government’s brief and the Court of Appeals opinion in United States v. Looking Cloud, 419

F.3d 781 (8  Cir. 2005); the discovery materials that I have received from the government; andth

statements made by witnesses during the course of my own independent investigation. 

3.  Based on the aforesaid sources of information, I have good reason to believe and I do

in fact believe that if and when he testifies, Looking Cloud will falsely testify that he had no prior

knowledge of Aquash’s murder, that he had no intent to help murder her, that he did not

knowingly aid or abet her murder, and that he did not provide the murder weapon to the shooter

at the murder scene. The testimony that Looking Cloud intends to give as to these material facts

has been proven false beyond a reasonable doubt in his own trial; his guilt and his intent to

murder are judicially noticeable facts and those judicially proven facts are not subject to

reasonable dispute in this Court or in this trial. 

4. In Looking Cloud’s trial in 2004, Looking Cloud’s defense was that he lacked specific

intent to help murder Aquash. To disprove that defense, the government presented the testimony

of Richard Two Elk, who testified that Looking Cloud had admitted to him that he–Looking

Cloud–handed a gun to John Graham at the scene of the murder and that Graham then used that

gun to murder Aquash. The jury found Looking Cloud guilty of murder in the first degree.

5. In his appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit, Looking

Cloud argued that the evidence in his trial was insufficient to prove that he knowingly intended
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to help murder Aquash. In the statement of facts in the government’s brief, AUSA Mandel stated

as a proven fact that Looking Cloud handed the gun to John Graham at the murder scene.

6. In 2005, the Court of Appeals affirmed Looking Cloud’s conviction and ruled that

Looking Cloud’s specific intent to murder was proven beyond a reasonable doubt. In its opinion, 

the Court specifically relied on the government’s evidence that Looking Cloud handed the gun to

the shooter at the murder scene as proof of his specific intent to murder.  United States v.

Looking Cloud, 419 F.3d at 790. 

7.  In 2006, Looking Cloud filed a motion to set aside his conviction, claiming he was

wrongfully convicted as a result of ineffective counsel and government misconduct. That motion,

which is filed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §2255, at CV #06-0502, is presently pending before this

Court. If Looking Cloud prevails on his motion to set aside his conviction and he is granted a

new trial, then any inculpatory admissions he makes in his testimony at Mr. Marshall’s trial

would be used as evidence against Looking Cloud in a new trial. It is therefore entirely

foreseeable that Looking Cloud will continue to deny his guilt and intent to murder Aquash if he

is allowed to testify in Mr. Marshall’s trial.

 8. I have subpoenaed and listened to tape-recordings of telephone calls made by Looking

Cloud from jail, after he agreed to testify for the government in August 2008, in which he tells 

his wife, relatives, and friends that he views his testimony in Mr. Marshall’s trial as an

opportunity to convince the triers of fact and the court that he was wrongly convicted of

Aquash’s murder. In those conversations, Looking Cloud has repeatedly told his wife, his

relatives, and his friends that when he testifies as a government witness in the trial, he will testify

that he was innocent of aiding and abetting Aquash’s murder, that he had no intent to murder her,

and that he was wrongly convicted in his trial, which he has characterized as a “kangaroo court.”

It is evident from these conversations that Looking Cloud intends to give falsely testify that he 

had no criminal intent to help murder Aquash and that he was innocent of the murder for which

he was convicted. 

9.  I have provided copies of those tape recorded conversations to the government, at

AUSA Mandel’s request. Therefore, I have every reason to believe that the government has heard

these tapes and knows that Looking Cloud intends to falsely deny his guilt in the murder of
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Aquash if he testifies.

10.  Based upon the false exculpatory statements Fritz Arlo Looking Cloud has made

since his conviction to government prosecutors and agents in his proffer session and interviews,

statements he has made to two grand juries and statements made in tape-recorded conversations,

it is a foreseeable fact which is known to the government that if Looking Cloud is allowed to

testify in the trial of Richard Marshall, Looking Cloud will give perjured testimony as to these

material facts: 

– he will false testify that until the moment she was shot, Looking Cloud had no prior

knowledge that Anna Mae Aquash was going to be murdered;

– he will falsely testify that he had no intent to help murder Aquash; 

– he will falsely testify that he did not knowingly aid or abet the murder of Aquash; 

– he will falsely testify that he did not hand a gun to John Graham at the murder scene;

and

– he will falsely testify that he made no inculpatory admissions to Richard Two Elk. 

 

11.  I have raised the issue of Looking Cloud’s  foreseeable perjury with the government,

both in personal conversation with AUSA Mandel and in correspondence to the United States

Attorney. On June 3, 2009, I raised the issue of Looking Cloud’s intent to commit perjury with

AUSA Mandel in a conversation that took place in the courtroom after Mr. Marshall’s detention

hearing. I advised Mr. Mandel of my expectation that when he testifies in the trial of Richard

Marshall, Looking Cloud will deny prior knowledge or intent to aid in the murder of Aquash.

AUSA Mandel admitted and agreed that if he is questioned on those matters in trial, Looking

Cloud could be expected to deny any prior knowledge or intent with regard to the murder of

Aquash.  However, AUSA Mandel did not see such testimony as presenting a constitutional

problem;  it was his opinion that, even though his guilt and his intent to murder have been

judicially proven beyond a reasonable doubt, if Looking Cloud were to deny his guilt and testify

that he had no intent to help murder Aquash, then such testimony would not constitute perjury.

The government has never denied that when Looking Cloud testifies, it is likely that Looking

Cloud will deny his criminal intent and guilt in the crime for which he has been convicted.  
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12.   Based on the foregoing facts, it is reasonably foreseeable that if Arlo Looking Cloud

testifies in the trial of Richard Marshall, Looking Cloud will give false exculpatory testimony

that would constitute perjury. Based on the foregoing facts, the government knows or should

know that when Looking Cloud intends to commit the crime of perjury when he is questioned on

cross-examination. 

13. If this Court allows the government to present the testimony of its key witness whom

the government knows or should know will commit perjury as to material facts in the case, the

knowing use of false testimony by the government will deprive the Defendant Richard Marshall

of a fair trial and due process of law.

WHEREFORE, the Defendant Richard Marshall moves the Court to enter an Order :

(1) directing the government to admit or deny the fact that it is reasonably foreseeable that

if Looking Cloud testifies as a government witness, he will testify that he had no prior

knowledge, intent to murder or guilt in the murder of Anna Mae Aquash;  

(2) if the government contests the fact that it is foreseeable that Looking Cloud will give

such testimony, then the Defendant Marshall moves the Court to order that an evidentiary

hearing be held, prior to trial, in which the Defendant will have an opportunity to prove the

government knows or should know that its witness will give false exculpatory testimony if he

testifies; and 

(3)  if the Court finds that it is a foreseeable fact, which is known or should be known to

the government, that Looking Cloud will commit perjury if he testifies, then the Defendant

Marshall moves the Court to enter an Order prohibiting the government from using false

testimony and to refrain from presenting the testimony of Fritz Arlo Looking Cloud in the trial of

Richard Marshall.

DATED: 19 JANUARY 2010  

VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, Defendant
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BY: /s/ Dana L. Hanna                                       
Dana L. Hanna
Attorney for Defendant Marshall
PO Box 3080
Rapid City, SD 57709
(605) 791-1832
dhanna@midconetwork.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I have served a true and correct copy of the foregoing Motion was
electronically served upon the other parties in this case via the electronic mail addresses listed
below:

Robert Mandel, Assistant United States Attorney
Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov

John Murphy, Attorney for Defendant Graham
jmurphysd@hotmail.com

Dated this 19  day of January, 2010.th

/s/ Dana L. Hanna                                 
Dana L. Hanna

mailto:jmurphysd@hotmail.com
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
       FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA

WESTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

vs.

JOHN GRAHAM, a.k.a.
JOHN BOY PATTON, and
VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, a.k.a.
RICHARD VINE MARSHALL, a.k.a.
DICK MARSHALL, 

Defendants.

Case No. CR 08-50079

MEMORANDUM OF LAW
IN SUPPORT OF

MOTION TO PRECLUDE USE 
OF FALSE TESTIMONY

FACTS AND BACKGROUND

Since 1994 to the present date, Arlo Looking Cloud has consistently told federal

government prosecutors and agents that he had no intent to help murder Anna Mae Aquash, that

her murder came as a surprise to him, and that he did not knowingly aid and abet her murder.

Those claims have been judicially proven beyond a reasonable doubt to be false. Even if the

government does not elicit that false testimony on direct examination, the government knows, or

should know, that Looking Cloud is going to repeat his false claims of ignorance and innocence

when he is questioned by defense counsel on cross-examination in Mr. Marshall’s trial. The

Defendant Marshall contends that certain facts and evidence in the possession of the government,

including statements made by Looking Cloud in tape-recorded conversations with family

members and in conversations with government attorneys, the government must be charged with

knowledge that its key witness against Mr. Marshall will knowingly lie about his own intent,

knowledge and guilt when he is questioned on those material facts in cross-examination. 

Defense counsel has directly confronted the government’s prosecutors with the question

of whether its witness will deny intent to murder or knowingly aiding and abetting the murder of
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Aquash when he testifies in Mr. Marshall’s trial. The government has not denied that such would

likely be Looking Cloud’s testimony. Instead, the trial prosecutor took the position that such

testimony would not constitute perjury.

Rather than contest the fact that Looking Cloud will deny his own proven guilt when he

testifies, the government would argue as a point of law that even if Looking Cloud denies facts

which have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt–his intent, prior knowledge and guilt in the

murder of Aquash–then such testimony would not constitute perjury and therefore the Defendant

Marshall’s constitutional guarantee of a fair trial would not preclude the government from calling

Looking Cloud as a government witness.  

Defendant Marshall contends that if the government knows or should know that its key

witness is going to give false testimony, whether on direct or cross-examination, as a matter of

law, that would constitute knowing use of false testimony by the government, which would

violate the Defendant’s Constitutional  guarantees of a fair trial and due process of law.

Pursuant to the Constitution’s guarantees of an accused citizen’s rights to a fair trial and

due process of law, and pursuant to this court’s supervisory powers to protect the integrity of the

judicial fact finding process, the Defendant Richard Marshall moves the Court to order an

evidentiary hearing on the motion and to preclude the government from knowingly presenting

false testimony in his trial.

THE ISSUE TO BE DECIDED :

Whether the government uses false testimony, and thereby violates a defendant’s right to

due process of law and a fair trial, when the government presents the testimony of a

convicted murderer to testify about the murder for which he was found guilty, knowing

that the witness will falsely deny his own prior knowledge, intent, and guilt with regard to 

                that murder when he is questioned by on cross-examination.
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   ARGUMENT 

I

THE GOVERNMENT KNOWINGLY USES FALSE TESTIMONY AND
VIOLATES DUE PROCESS WHEN IT PRESENTS THE TESTIMONY OF A
GOVERNMENT WITNESS KNOWING THAT THE WITNESS WILL GIVE          
          FALSE TESTIMONY ON CROSS-EXAMINATION.

It is a violation of a defendant’s right to due process of law for the government to use

perjured testimony in a trial. Mooney v. Holohan, 294 U.S. 103, 55 S.Ct. 340 (1935); Napue v.

Illinois, 360 U.S. 264, 79 S.Ct. 1173 (1959).

“The prosecution may not use or solicit false evidence, or allow it to go uncorrected.”

United States v. Martin, 59 F.3d 767, 770 (8th Cir. 1995), citing Giglio v. United States, 405 US

150, 154, 92 S.Ct. 763 (1972). To establish a constitutional violation arising from the use of false

testimony, “the testimony must have been perjured, the government must have known it was, and

there must have been a reasonable likelihood that the perjured testimony affected the jury's

determinations.” United States v. Martin, above.

To violate due process, it is not necessary for the government’s prosecutor to elicit the 

false testimony on direct examination. Recognizing that a jury’s determination of the truthfulness

of a given witness may well be determinative of guilt or innocence, the Supreme Court and the

Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals have held that the government uses false testimony, and thereby

denies a defendant fundamental fairness, if a government witness gives false testimony on cross-

examination and the government knows or should know that the testimony is false and fails to

correct the false testimony. Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 154, 92 S.Ct. 763 (1972);  

United States v. Bigeleisen, 625 F.2d 203 (8  Cir., 1980); United States v. Foster, 874 F.2d 491th

(8  Cir. 1988). “[T]o the extent that the government allows (perjured) testimony to goth

uncorrected, perjured testimony will be considered a part of ‘the prosecution’s case,’ even if

elicited by defense counsel on cross-examination.” United States v. Boyd, 833 F.Supp. 1277,

1345 (N.D.Ill. 1993). 

Most appellate cases addressing the issue of the government’s use of perjury involve
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cases in which the purported perjury was discovered after the prosecution witness testified. The

case before this Court is unique in that the Defendant Marshall affirms that he can prove in an

evidentiary hearing that even now, before the trial begins, the government knows its key witness

will testify falsely as to his own lack of guilt in the murder he has been proven to have 

committed. This is not merely a matter of impeachment, but goes to the very subject matter of his

testimony and the government’s case against Mr. Marshall.

Here, the government must be charged with prior knowledge that the key prosecution

witness will give perjured testimony: he will deny prior knowledge, intent to murder, and guilt of

the crime for which he was convicted. Given the legal fact of his conviction (which was affirmed

on appeal), there can no reasonable dispute that Looking Cloud knowingly aided and abetted

murder and that he intended to help murder Aquash. His testimony denying those judicially

proven facts would constitute perjury as a matter of law.

Moreover, in Looking Cloud’s appeal, the government represented to the United States

Court of Appeals in plain and unambiguous language that it was a proven fact in Looking

Cloud’s trial that Arlo Looking Cloud handed the murder weapon to John Graham at the murder

scene. It is a practical certainty that Looking Cloud will deny that fact when questioned on cross-

examination. If the government knows or has reason to know that Looking Cloud will deny that

he handed the gun to Graham, that too constitutes a present intention by the government to

knowingly use perjured testimony in its trial against Richard Marshall.

 The government has stated to the Court of Appeals that Looking Cloud handed a gun to

Graham at the murder scene. If the government had any reason to believe that the evidence it

relied on in Looking Cloud’s trial was false, or that the fact it represented to the Court of Appeals

as true is not true, then the government would have a duty to bring that matter to the attention of

the Court; it has not done so. Therefore, if the government knows that Looking Cloud will testify

on cross-examination that he did not give a gun to Graham, or that he did not take any other

actions to knowingly help murder Anna Mae Aquash, then the government must be held to know

that Looking Cloud is going to give testimony that the government knows is false. 

If the government’s knowledge of Looking Cloud’s intent to testify falsely is admitted or

proven, then, as a matter of law, the government intends to use perjured testimony in its case. 
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II

THE COURT SHOULD ORDER AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING TO
DETERMINE WHETHER THE GOVERNMENT INTENDS TO USE 
                                  FALSE TESTIMONY IN ITS CASE. 

              To establish a violation of due process after conviction, the Defendant has the burden of

establishing that the government’s case included perjured testimony; the defendant must show

that the challenged testimony constituted “the willful assertion under oath of a false, material

fact.”  United States v. Boyd, 833 F.Supp. 1277, 1335 (N.D.Ill. 1993).  Richard Marshall

respectfully submits that he can establish in an evidentiary hearing that the government knows

now, prior to trial, that its key witness will commit the crime of perjury on cross-examination

when he is questioned about his own knowing participation in the murder that would be the

subject matter of his testimony.

The knowing and premeditated use of perjured testimony by the government goes to the

heart of the integrity of the judicial fact finding process. If the government’s intention to call a

witness it knows will testify falsely can be established prior to trial, the Court should not wait

until the government’s witness commits a crime in the courtroom to address the issue. The Court

should know, prior to trial, if the government intends to call a witness who will give perjured

testimony. Just as the Court will preclude a party from calling a witness it knows will assert his

right to remain silent, here, the Court should not wait until the trial has been tainted by perjury to

take appropriate preventive action.

To protect the integrity of the judicial process and the Defendant’s right to fundamental

fairness, the factual question of whether the government’s key witness will give false exculpatory

testimony on cross-examination must be decided before trial.

Therefore, the Court should grant the Defendant’s motion and order the government to

disclose what Looking Cloud’s testimony will be when he is asked these questions on cross-

examination:

– whether Looking Cloud had prior knowledge that Anna Mae Aquash was going to be

murdered before she was shot;

– whether Looking Cloud intended to help murder Aquash; 
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– whether Looking Cloud knowingly acted to aided and abet the murder of Aquash; and

– whether Looking Cloud handed a gun to John Graham at the murder scene.

If the government admits that Looking Cloud will deny those facts when he is cross-

examined, then there would be no contested facts to establish in an evidentiary hearing, and the

court could then make legal rulings on the issue. If, on the other hand, the government denies that

Looking Cloud will give false exculpatory testimony on cross-examination or if the government

claims ignorance as to what the testimony of its key witness will be on these material facts, then

this Court should order that an evidentiary hearing be held in which the Defendant will have an

opportunity to present evidence to prove that the government intends to use false testimony in its

case by calling a witness it knows will commit perjury on cross-examination.

If the government contests the fact that Looking Cloud would testify falsely about his

own guilt and actions, the Court should hear evidence in a pre-trial hearing and make 

preliminary rulings of fact pursuant to FRE Rule 104 as to whether the prosecution’s witness

intends to give false exculpatory testimony in trial; and if the Court finds it is reasonably

foreseeable that Looking Cloud will give perjured testimony if he testifies, the Court should then

make a legal ruling that the use of such testimony by the government would deprive the

Defendant Richard Marshall of due process of law.

DATED: 19 JANUARY 2010

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Dana L. Hanna               
Dana L. Hanna
HANNA LAW OFFICE, P.C.
PO Box 3080
816 Sixth Street
Rapid City, SD 57709
605-791-1832
Counsel for Defendant Marshall
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I have served a true and correct copy of the foregoing Memorandum
was electronically served upon the other parties in this case via the electronic mail addresses
listed below:

Robert Mandel, Assistant United States Attorney
 Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov

John Murphy, Attorney for Defendant Graham
jmurphysd@hotmail.com

Dated this 19  day of January, 2010.th

/s/ Dana L. Hanna                                

Dana L. Hanna

mailto:Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov
mailto:jmurphysd@hotmail.com
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA

WESTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )          CRIM. NO. 08-50079-01
Plaintiff, )

)
vs. )              

)       
JOHN GRAHAM, a/k/a )             
JOHN BOY PATTON and )
VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, a/k/a)
RICHARD VINE MARSHALL, a/k/a)
DICK MARSHALL, )     

Defendants. )

SUPPLEMENT TO PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTIONS

Defendant Graham filed proposed jury instructions, Doc. 154, and a

memorandum in support of those instructions, Doc. 151.  He previously

supplemented the memorandum with additional authority.  Doc. 299.  

Based on United States v. Stymiest, 581 F.3d 759, 764 (8  Cir. 2009) (filedth

September 22, 2009, rehearing denied November 19, 2009) (appeal from the

District of South Dakota), Defendant Graham asks that the following paragraph 

be added at the end of enumerated paragraph #2 of proposed instructions 1 and 2

in Document 154:

Also, a person is not recognized as being an Indian merely because they
hold themselves out to be an Indian by submitting to tribal court
jurisdiction, or because they have sought or received care at a tribal
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hospital, or because they have participated in tribal community activities, or
because they are socially involved with enrolled tribal members.  To be
recognized as an Indian, a person must be recognized by a particular Indian
tribe’s government or the United States government as being an Indian.  If
the government’s only proves that [Mr. Graham][Ms. Aquash] was
recognized or accepted as being Indian by particular Indian people, that is
insufficient to find that [Mr. Graham][Ms. Aquash] was recognized as being
Indian under the law. 

The language in Stymiest clearly illuminates an issue that has been mis-

apprehended by the government.  The government has alleged that it will prove

Mr. Graham is recognized as being an Indian by showing he socialized with

members of federally recognized tribes and participated in their ceremonies. 

The issue is not whether Mr. Graham was accepted by or socialized with

enrolled members of recognized American Indian tribes.  The issue is whether he

was recognized as being Indian by a federally recognized Indian tribe, the United

States government, or both.  Id. (Indian recognition requires “that the defendant be

recognized as an Indian by the tribe or by the federal government.” (emphasis in

original).  The issue is whether a particular person has been recognized by a

political entity, not whether a particular person has been socially recognized by

members of that political entity.  Id. at 764 (Indian recognition prong has “political

underpinnings.”).  

Therefore, the jury should be specifically instructed that the kind of social,
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cultural and religious evidence that the government intends to present to establish

Indian recognition is precisely the kind of evidence that the Eight Circuit has held

is not sufficient.  

Dated January 19, 2010.

    /s/ John R. Murphy                                      
    John R. Murphy

328 East New York Street, Suite 1
Rapid City, SD 57701
(605) 342-2909

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that he served a true and correct copy of
the foregoing document upon the person(s) herein next designated, on the date
shown below by placing the same in the service indicated, addressed as follows:

ROBERT A. MANDEL 9 U.S. Mail, postage prepaid
9 Hand Delivery
9 Federal Express
9 Facsimile at 
: Electronic Case Filing

DANA HANNA 9 U.S. Mail, postage prepaid
9 Hand Delivery
9 Federal Express
9 Facsimile at 
: Electronic Case Filing

Dated January 19, 2010.

    /s/ John R. Murphy                                      
    John R. Murphy
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA

WESTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

vs.

JOHN GRAHAM, a.k.a.
JOHN BOY PATTON, and
VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, a.k.a.
RICHARD VINE MARSHALL, a.k.a.
DICK MARSHALL, 

Defendants.

Case No. CR 08-50079

DEFENDANT MARSHALL’S
SUPPLEMENTAL MOTIONS IN LIMINE

NOW COMES Defendant Richard Marshall, by and through his attorney Dana L. Hanna,

and pursuant to his constitutional rights to a fair trial, and to Rules 401, 402 and 403 of the

Federal Rules of Evidence, hereby moves in limine for the following orders: 

1. To preclude the government from using any name other than Vine Richard Marshall,

the defendant’s legal name when reading the indictment. Use of other names is prejudicial.

2. To preclude government from offering any testimony from Cleo Gates or any other

witness making any reference to the contents of a writing that has never been seen by Cleo Gates

or any other government witness. On information and belief, the government may seek to ask

questions calling for speculation as to the contents of a writing that will not be introduced in

evidence and which neither Cleo Gates or any other government witness would claim to have

read. Testimony speculating as to the contents of an out of court writing is inadmissible hearsay,

not relevant or probative, and unfairly prejudicial.  

3. To preclude the government from offering or making any reference to an out of court

statement by a deceased out of court  declarant– Myrtle Poor Bear on the grounds that such out of

court declaration would be inadmissible, irrelevant and prejudicial hearsay.

4. Cleo Gates will testify that some weeks prior to December 1975, rifles belonging to
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Richard Marshall were removed from the Marshall home and taken to Mr. Marshall’s father and

stepmother. The Defendant moves to preclude the government from questioning the witness Cleo

Gates as to the reason why defendant Marshall had his rifles removed from his home and taken to

the home of his mother and stepfather. Such questioning would lead to the introduction of

testimony that is inadmissible, not probative, and unduly prejudicial. 

5. To preclude the government from making any reference to or eliciting or offering any

testimony or evidence concerning events regarding any arrest of the defendant or any case other

than the one charged in the indictment, as such testimony would be irrelevant, without probative

value and unduly prejudicial. 

6. To preclude the testimony of any FBI agent, Ecoffey or any witness other than a

qualified pathologist as to their opinion as to whether marks on Anna Mae Aquash’s body were

“ligature marks” or any testimony as to the origin of any alleged marks, on the grounds that only

a qualified expert witness such as a forensic pathologist would be competent to give such an

opinion.

7. To prohibit the government from offering any theories, opinions or testimony that

Anna Mae Aquash was or may have been raped, on the grounds that such a theory would be

entirely speculative, lacking in any probative value as to contested issues in this case and would

create a substantial likelihood of undue prejudice.

 WHEREFORE, the defendant moves in limine for the above-described orders.

Dated this 19  day of January, 2010.th

VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, Defendant

BY: /s/ Dana L. Hanna                                       
Dana L. Hanna
Attorney for Defendant Marshall
PO Box 3080
Rapid City, SD 57709
(605) 791-1832
dhanna@midconetwork.com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I served a true and correct copy of the foregoing Motion was
electronically served upon the other parties in this case via the electronic mail addresses listed
below:

Robert Mandel, Assistant United States Attorney
Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov

John Murphy, Attorney for Defendant Graham
jmurphysd@hotmail.com

Dated this 19  day of January, 2009.th

/s/ Dana L. Hanna                                 
Dana L. Hanna

mailto:jmurphysd@hotmail.com


UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
       FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA

WESTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

vs.

JOHN GRAHAM, a.k.a.
JOHN BOY PATTON, and
VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, a.k.a.
RICHARD VINE MARSHALL, a.k.a.
DICK MARSHALL, 

Defendants.

Case No. CR 08-50079

DEFENDANT MARSHALL’S
MOTION FOR EARLY

PRODUCTION OF 
JENCKS/RULE 26.2

                             MATERIAL

NOW COMES the Defendant Richard Marshall, by and through his attorney of record,

Dana L. Hanna, and hereby moves the Court to require the government to produce all materials,

within the scope of 18 U.S.C. § 3500 and Fed. R. Crim. P. 26.2, at least one week prior to trail. 

In support of this motion, the defendant avers that early production will avoid the

inconvenience and expense of recessing the proceedings during trial, pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P.

26.2(d), to permit counsel to examine such statements and to prepare for their use in trail. To

deny the defendant access to witnesses’ statements in advance of trial, so that counsel can read

and digest these materials, discuss them with the defendant, and find and prepare witnesses who

may refute the testimony of the governments’s witnesses, will deny the defendant meaningful

disclosure, deny the defendant his right to effective assistance of counsel; and impair the

defendant’s ability to prepare his defense, all in contravention of the United States Constitution. 

WHEREFORE, the defendant respectfully requests that the Court grant the relief herein



sought, and require the government to turn over all Jencks Act/Rule 26.2  materials one week in

advance of trial.

DATED: 19 JANUARY 2010  

VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, Defendant

BY: /s/ Dana L. Hanna                                       
Dana L. Hanna
Attorney for Defendant Marshall
PO Box 3080
Rapid City, SD 57709
(605) 791-1832
dhanna@midconetwork.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I have served a true and correct copy of the foregoing Motion was
electronically served upon the other parties in this case via the electronic mail addresses listed
below:

Robert Mandel, Assistant United States Attorney
Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov

John Murphy, Attorney for Defendant Graham
jmurphysd@hotmail.com

Dated this 19  day of January, 2010.th

/s/ Dana L. Hanna                                 
Dana L. Hanna
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA

WESTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

vs.

VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, a.k.a.
RICHARD VINE MARSHALL, a.k.a.
DICK MARSHALL, 

Defendant.

Case No. CR 08-50079

MOTION FOR SEQUESTRATION 
ORDER 

NOW COMES Defendant Richard Marshall, by and through his attorney, Dana L. Hanna,

and hereby moves the Court to enter an order for sequestration of the government’s witnesses,

excluding the government’s witnesses from the court room except for when they are testifying, and

further directing the government’s witnesses to refrain from discussing the testimony or evidence

in this case until after they have completed their testimony. Grounds for the motion are that the

defendant has a right to a sequestration order as recognized in the case United States v. Camacho,

555 F.3d 695 (8  Cir. 2009). th

WHEREFORE Defendant Richard Marshall respectfully moves the Court to enter an order

(1) directing the government’s witnesses to be excluded from the courtroom during the testimony

of other witnesses and opening statements of counsel;  (2) directing the government’s witnesses to

not discuss the testimony or evidence with other witnesses until both sides have rested or until

otherwise excused from this order by the Court; and (3) directing the Prosecutor to advise the

government’s witnesses of the order.
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Dated this 19   day of January, 2010.th

VINE RICHARD MARSHALL,
Defendant

BY: /s/ Dana L. Hanna                 
Dana L. Hanna
Attorney for Defendant Marshall
PO Box 3080
Rapid City, SD 57709
(605) 791-1832
dhanna@midconetwork.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I have served a true and correct copy of the foregoing Motion was
electronically served upon the other parties in the case via the electronic mail addresses listed below:

Robert Mandel, Assistant United States Attorney
Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov

John Murphy, Attorney for Defendant Graham
jmurphysd@hotmail.com

Dated this 19  day of January, 2010.th

/s/ Dana L. Hanna              
Dana L. Hanna

mailto:Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov
mailto:jmurphysd@hotmail.com
mailto:Mandel@usdoj.gov
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA

WESTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

vs.

JOHN GRAHAM, a.k.a.
JOHN BOY PATTON, and
VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, a.k.a.
RICHARD VINE MARSHALL, a.k.a.
DICK MARSHALL, 

Defendants.

Case No. CR 08-50079

DEFENDANT MARSHALL’S
MOTION FOR PRODUCTION OF

HANDWRITTEN NOTES
FOR IN CAMERA INSPECTION

NOW COMES Defendant Richard Marshall, by and through his attorney Dana L. Hanna,

and hereby moves the Court to order the government to produce the handwritten notes of 

government agents and attorneys present during the proffer session questioning of Arlo Looking

Cloud, on August 19, 2008, for this Court’s in-camera inspection. 

As grounds for this motion, Dana L. Hanna, attorney for the Defendant, hereby affirms:

1. I have good reason to believe and I do in fact believe that in an interview with agents

and prosecutors on or about August 19, 2008, in a proffer session, government cooperating

witness Fritz Arlo Looking Cloud testimony made statements to the prosecutors that are false,

and which the government knew or should have known were false, including false exculpatory

statements in which he claimed to have had no prior knowledge or any intent to help murder 

Anna Mae Pictou Aquash in 1975.

2. The reasons for my belief that Looking Cloud made false exculpatory statements in his

proffer session are set forth in the Defendant’s Motion to Prohibit Use of False Testimony and

the memorandum of law in support of that motion, both of which are being filed with this court

today. 

3. An FBI agent wrote a “302" report summarizing Looking Cloud’s statements in the
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proffer session. The proffer session evidently was not recorded, and there is no verbatim record

of the interview, to my knowledge. Therefore, not all statements made by Looking Cloud were

referred to in the 302 report. The report made no mention of any exculpatory statements by

Looking Cloud.

4. I know from the discovery provided to me that every time Looking Cloud has been

questioned about Aquash’s murder by government agents or attorneys, since his first proffer

session in 1994, he has sought to persuade them that he is innocent of Aquash’s murder.

Therefore, it is entirely predictable and foreseeable that he would have made exculpatory

statements claiming lack of prior knowledge or intent when he proffered his potential testimony

to the government in 2008. On information and belief, therefore, it is probable that false

exculpatory statements were made by Looking Cloud at his proffer session in August 2008, but

were not included in the investigative report.

5. False exculpatory statements can be used to impeach the credibility of the

government’s key witness in trial .

WHEREFORE the Defendant Marshall moves the Court to direct the federal prosecutors

and agents to turn over their own handwritten notes, as well as the handwritten notes of agents,

that were taken during the proffer session with Arlo Looking Cloud in August 2008, for the

Court’s in-camera review to determine whether such notes contain evidence that the Defendant

can use to impeach the credibility of Looking Cloud.

 

DATED: 19 JANUARY, 2010.

VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, Defendant

BY: /s/ Dana L. Hanna                                       
Dana L. Hanna
Attorney for Defendant Marshall
PO Box 3080
Rapid City, SD 57709
(605) 791-1832
dhanna@midconetwork.com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I have served a true and correct copy of the foregoing Motion for
Production of Handwritten Notes was electronically served upon the other parties in this case via
the electronic mail addresses listed below:

Robert Mandel, Assistant United States Attorney
Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov

John Murphy, Attorney for Defendant Graham
jmurphysd@hotmail.com

Dated this 19  day of July, 2010.th

/s/ Dana L. Hanna                                 
Dana L. Hanna

mailto:jmurphysd@hotmail.com
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA

WESTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

vs.

JOHN GRAHAM, a.k.a.
JOHN BOY PATTON, and
VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, a.k.a.
RICHARD VINE MARSHALL, a.k.a.
DICK MARSHALL, 

Defendants.

Case No. CR 08-50079

DEFENDANT MARSHALL’S
MEMORANDUM OF LAW

IN SUPPORT OF
MOTION FOR PRODUCTION OF

HANDWRITTEN NOTES
FOR IN CAMERA INSPECTION

Defendant Richard Marshall moves the Court to order the government to produce the

handwritten notes of  government agents and attorneys present during the proffer session

questioning of Arlo Looking Cloud, on August 19, 2008, for the Court’s in-camera inspection. 

The Defendant requests the court to inspect the handwritten notes to determine whether 

exculpatory statements were made by Looking Cloud and omitted from the investigative report.

The Defendant contends that there is a realistic likelihood that Looking Cloud, told agents

that he was innocent of the murder for which he was convicted, and that he had no intent to help

murder Aquash or any knowledge that she was going to be murdered until the moment of her

death. These statements have been proven to be false by reason of his conviction for first degree

murder. False exculpatory statements are evidence that can be used to impeach the credibility of

this witness, and Mr. Marshall is entitled to disclosure of those statements by the Due Process

Clause. Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963). 

Moreover, in his Motion to Prohibit Use of False Testimony, which is being filed today,

the Defendant Marshall contends that the government knows or should know that Looking Cloud

will give false exculpatory testimony, in the trial of Richard Marshall. Any such statements made

to government investigators at the proffer session would be highly probative as to the factual
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issues raised in that motion.

Therefore, the court should order the government to produce the handwritten notes taken

during the proffer session for an in-camera inspection by the court, so that the court may 

determine whether there were material omissions from the written investigative

report–specifically, statements made by Looking Cloud in which he claimed innocence or lack of

prior knowledge or intent to help murder Aquash.  United States  v. Greatwalker, 356 F.3d 908

(8  Cir., 2004);  United States. v. Grunewald, 987 F.2d 531 (8  Cir. 1993).th th

DATED: 19 JANUARY 2010

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Dana L. Hanna                   

Dana L. Hanna
Attorney for Defendant Marshall
PO Box 3080
Rapid City, SD 57709
(605) 791-1832
dhanna@midconetwork.com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I a true and correct copy of the foregoing Memorandum of Law was
electronically served upon the other parties in this case via the electronic mail addresses listed
below:

Robert Mandel, Assistant United States Attorney
Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov

John Murphy, Attorney for Defendant Graham
jmurphysd@hotmail.com

Dated this 19  day of July, 2010.th

/s/ Dana L. Hanna                                 
Dana L. Hanna

mailto:jmurphysd@hotmail.com


1

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA

WESTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

vs.

JOHN GRAHAM, a.k.a.
JOHN BOY PATTON, and
VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, a.k.a.
RICHARD VINE MARSHALL, a.k.a.
DICK MARSHALL, 

Defendants.

Case No. CR 08-50079

DEFENDANT MARSHALL’S
MOTION TO PRECLUDE USE 

OF FALSE TESTIMONY;
MOTION FOR PRE-TRIAL
EVIDENTIARY HEARING

NOW COMES Defendant Richard Marshall, by and through his attorney Dana L. Hanna,

and pursuant to his constitutional rights to a fair trial and due process of law, respectfully moves

the Court to enter an order to prohibit the government from offering the testimony of Fritz Arlo

Looking Cloud at trial, on the grounds that the government knows or has good reason to know

that Looking Cloud will knowingly give false testimony as to material facts; specifically, the

government knows or has good reason to know that Looking Cloud will give false exculpatory

testimony in which he will falsely deny his own proven criminal culpability in the murder of

Anna Mae Pictou Aquash. 

The Defendant further moves the Court to order a pre-trial evidentiary hearing on this

motion, if the government contests the fact that it knows or has good reason to know that

Looking Cloud will give false exculpatory testimony when he is questioned in trial about his own

guilt and intent to murder Aquash. 

As grounds for this motion, Dana L. Hanna, attorney for the Defendant, hereby affirms:

1. The key prosecution witness in the government’s case against Richard Marshall is

convicted murderer Fritz Arlo Looking Cloud. In 2004, Looking Cloud was convicted after trial

of murder in the first degree for murdering or aiding and abetting the murder of Anna Mae Pictou
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Aquash in December 1975. Looking Cloud is presently serving a life sentence for his crime. He

agreed to testify as a government witness in 2008.

2.   I hereby affirm that I have a good faith reasonable belief that the government knows

or should know that Looking Cloud intends to give testimony that the government knows is false

in the trial of Richard Marshall.  I make these affirmations on the basis of reliable information

and belief, the sources of which include, but are not limited to: statements made to me by

Assistant United States Attorney (AUSA) Robert Mandel; tape-recorded conversations made

from jail between Looking Cloud and his wife, friends and relatives; transcripts of statements

made by Looking Cloud to the government’s prosecuting attorney before two grand juries;

official court records in this case, the case of United States v. Looking Cloud, CR #03-50020,

and in Arlo Looking Cloud’s pending habeas action in this court, CV #06-5062; the

government’s brief and the Court of Appeals opinion in United States v. Looking Cloud, 419

F.3d 781 (8  Cir. 2005); the discovery materials that I have received from the government; andth

statements made by witnesses during the course of my own independent investigation. 

3.  Based on the aforesaid sources of information, I have good reason to believe and I do

in fact believe that if and when he testifies, Looking Cloud will falsely testify that he had no prior

knowledge of Aquash’s murder, that he had no intent to help murder her, that he did not

knowingly aid or abet her murder, and that he did not provide the murder weapon to the shooter

at the murder scene. The testimony that Looking Cloud intends to give as to these material facts

has been proven false beyond a reasonable doubt in his own trial; his guilt and his intent to

murder are judicially noticeable facts and those judicially proven facts are not subject to

reasonable dispute in this Court or in this trial. 

4. In Looking Cloud’s trial in 2004, Looking Cloud’s defense was that he lacked specific

intent to help murder Aquash. To disprove that defense, the government presented the testimony

of Richard Two Elk, who testified that Looking Cloud had admitted to him that he–Looking

Cloud–handed a gun to John Graham at the scene of the murder and that Graham then used that

gun to murder Aquash. The jury found Looking Cloud guilty of murder in the first degree.

5. In his appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit, Looking

Cloud argued that the evidence in his trial was insufficient to prove that he knowingly intended
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to help murder Aquash. In the statement of facts in the government’s brief, AUSA Mandel stated

as a proven fact that Looking Cloud handed the gun to John Graham at the murder scene.

6. In 2005, the Court of Appeals affirmed Looking Cloud’s conviction and ruled that

Looking Cloud’s specific intent to murder was proven beyond a reasonable doubt. In its opinion, 

the Court specifically relied on the government’s evidence that Looking Cloud handed the gun to

the shooter at the murder scene as proof of his specific intent to murder.  United States v.

Looking Cloud, 419 F.3d at 790. 

7.  In 2006, Looking Cloud filed a motion to set aside his conviction, claiming he was

wrongfully convicted as a result of ineffective counsel and government misconduct. That motion,

which is filed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §2255, at CV #06-0502, is presently pending before this

Court. If Looking Cloud prevails on his motion to set aside his conviction and he is granted a

new trial, then any inculpatory admissions he makes in his testimony at Mr. Marshall’s trial

would be used as evidence against Looking Cloud in a new trial. It is therefore entirely

foreseeable that Looking Cloud will continue to deny his guilt and intent to murder Aquash if he

is allowed to testify in Mr. Marshall’s trial.

 8. I have subpoenaed and listened to tape-recordings of telephone calls made by Looking

Cloud from jail, after he agreed to testify for the government in August 2008, in which he tells 

his wife, relatives, and friends that he views his testimony in Mr. Marshall’s trial as an

opportunity to convince the triers of fact and the court that he was wrongly convicted of

Aquash’s murder. In those conversations, Looking Cloud has repeatedly told his wife, his

relatives, and his friends that when he testifies as a government witness in the trial, he will testify

that he was innocent of aiding and abetting Aquash’s murder, that he had no intent to murder her,

and that he was wrongly convicted in his trial, which he has characterized as a “kangaroo court.”

It is evident from these conversations that Looking Cloud intends to falsely testify that he had no

criminal intent to help murder Aquash and that he was innocent of the murder for which he was

convicted. 

9.  I have provided copies of those tape recorded conversations to the government, at

AUSA Mandel’s request. Therefore, I have every reason to believe that the government has heard

these tapes and knows that Looking Cloud intends to falsely deny his guilt in the murder of
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Aquash if he testifies.

10.  Based upon the false exculpatory statements Fritz Arlo Looking Cloud has made

since his conviction to government prosecutors and agents in his proffer session and interviews,

statements he has made to two grand juries and statements made in tape-recorded conversations,

it is a foreseeable fact which is known to the government that if Looking Cloud is allowed to

testify in the trial of Richard Marshall, Looking Cloud will give perjured testimony as to these

material facts: 

– he will falsely testify that until the moment she was shot, Looking Cloud had no prior

knowledge that Anna Mae Aquash was going to be murdered;

– he will falsely testify that he had no intent to help murder Aquash; 

– he will falsely testify that he did not knowingly aid or abet the murder of Aquash; 

– he will falsely testify that he did not hand a gun to John Graham at the murder scene;

and

– he will falsely testify that he made no inculpatory admissions to Richard Two Elk. 

 

11.  I have raised the issue of Looking Cloud’s  foreseeable perjury with the government,

both in personal conversation with AUSA Mandel and in correspondence to the United States

Attorney. On June 3, 2009, I raised the issue of Looking Cloud’s intent to commit perjury with

AUSA Mandel in a conversation that took place in the courtroom after Mr. Marshall’s detention

hearing. I advised Mr. Mandel of my expectation that when he testifies in the trial of Richard

Marshall, Looking Cloud will deny prior knowledge or intent to aid in the murder of Aquash.

AUSA Mandel admitted and agreed that if he is questioned on those matters in trial, Looking

Cloud could be expected to deny any prior knowledge or intent with regard to the murder of

Aquash.  However, AUSA Mandel did not see such testimony as presenting a constitutional

problem;  it was his opinion that, even though his guilt and his intent to murder have been

judicially proven beyond a reasonable doubt, if Looking Cloud were to deny his guilt and testify

that he had no intent to help murder Aquash, then such testimony would not constitute perjury.

The government has never denied that when Looking Cloud testifies, it is likely that Looking

Cloud will deny his criminal intent and guilt in the crime for which he has been convicted.  
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12.   Based on the foregoing facts, it is reasonably foreseeable that if Arlo Looking Cloud

testifies in the trial of Richard Marshall, Looking Cloud will give false exculpatory testimony

that would constitute perjury. Based on the foregoing facts, the government knows or should

know that Looking Cloud intends to commit the crime of perjury when he is questioned on cross-

examination. 

13. If this Court allows the government to present the testimony of its key witness whom

the government knows or should know will commit perjury as to material facts in the case, the

knowing use of false testimony by the government will deprive the Defendant Richard Marshall

of a fair trial and due process of law.

WHEREFORE, the Defendant Richard Marshall moves the Court to enter an Order :

(1) directing the government to admit or deny the fact that it is reasonably foreseeable that

if Looking Cloud testifies as a government witness, he will testify that he had no prior

knowledge, intent to murder or guilt in the murder of Anna Mae Aquash;  

(2) if the government contests the fact that it is foreseeable that Looking Cloud will give

such testimony, then the Defendant Marshall moves the Court to order that an evidentiary

hearing be held, prior to trial, in which the Defendant will have an opportunity to prove the

government knows or should know that its witness will give false exculpatory testimony if he

testifies; and 

(3)  if the Court finds that it is a foreseeable fact, which is known or should be known to

the government, that Looking Cloud will commit perjury if he testifies, then the Defendant

Marshall moves the Court to enter an Order prohibiting the government from using false

testimony and to refrain from presenting the testimony of Fritz Arlo Looking Cloud in the trial of

Richard Marshall.

DATED: 19 JANUARY 2010  

VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, Defendant
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BY: /s/ Dana L. Hanna                                       
Dana L. Hanna
Attorney for Defendant Marshall
PO Box 3080
Rapid City, SD 57709
(605) 791-1832
dhanna@midconetwork.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I have served a true and correct copy of the foregoing Motion was
electronically served upon the other parties in this case via the electronic mail addresses listed
below:

Robert Mandel, Assistant United States Attorney
Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov

John Murphy, Attorney for Defendant Graham
jmurphysd@hotmail.com

Dated this 19  day of January, 2010.th

/s/ Dana L. Hanna                                 
Dana L. Hanna

mailto:jmurphysd@hotmail.com
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
       FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA

WESTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

vs.

JOHN GRAHAM, a.k.a.
JOHN BOY PATTON, and
VINE RICHARD MARSHALL, a.k.a.
RICHARD VINE MARSHALL, a.k.a.
DICK MARSHALL, 

Defendants.

Case No. CR 08-50079

MEMORANDUM OF LAW
IN SUPPORT OF

MOTION TO PRECLUDE USE 
OF FALSE TESTIMONY

FACTS AND BACKGROUND

Since 1994 to the present date, Arlo Looking Cloud has consistently told federal

government prosecutors and agents that he had no intent to help murder Anna Mae Aquash, that

her murder came as a surprise to him, and that he did not knowingly aid and abet her murder.

Those claims have been judicially proven beyond a reasonable doubt to be false. Even if the

government does not elicit that false testimony on direct examination, the government knows, or

should know, that Looking Cloud is going to repeat his false claims of ignorance and innocence

when he is questioned by defense counsel on cross-examination in Mr. Marshall’s trial. The

Defendant Marshall contends that certain facts and evidence in the possession of the government,

including statements made by Looking Cloud in tape-recorded conversations with family

members and in conversations with government attorneys, the government must be charged with

knowledge that its key witness against Mr. Marshall will knowingly lie about his own intent,

knowledge and guilt when he is questioned on those material facts in cross-examination. 

Defense counsel has directly confronted the government’s prosecutors with the question

of whether its witness will deny intent to murder or knowingly aiding and abetting the murder of
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Aquash when he testifies in Mr. Marshall’s trial. The government has not denied that such would

likely be Looking Cloud’s testimony. Instead, the trial prosecutor took the position that such

testimony would not constitute perjury.

Rather than contest the fact that Looking Cloud will deny his own proven guilt when he

testifies, the government would argue as a point of law that even if Looking Cloud denies facts

which have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt–his intent, prior knowledge and guilt in the

murder of Aquash–then such testimony would not constitute perjury and therefore the Defendant

Marshall’s constitutional guarantee of a fair trial would not preclude the government from calling

Looking Cloud as a government witness.  

Defendant Marshall contends that if the government knows or should know that its key

witness is going to give false testimony, whether on direct or cross-examination, as a matter of

law, that would constitute knowing use of false testimony by the government, which would

violate the Defendant’s Constitutional  guarantees of a fair trial and due process of law.

Pursuant to the Constitution’s guarantees of an accused citizen’s rights to a fair trial and

due process of law, and pursuant to this court’s supervisory powers to protect the integrity of the

judicial fact finding process, the Defendant Richard Marshall moves the Court to order an

evidentiary hearing on the motion and to preclude the government from knowingly presenting

false testimony in his trial.

THE ISSUE TO BE DECIDED :

Whether the government uses false testimony, and thereby violates a defendant’s right to

due process of law and a fair trial, when the government presents the testimony of a

convicted murderer to testify about the murder for which he was found guilty, knowing

that the witness will falsely deny his own prior knowledge, intent, and guilt with regard to 

                that murder when he is questioned on cross-examination.
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   ARGUMENT 

I

THE GOVERNMENT KNOWINGLY USES FALSE TESTIMONY AND
VIOLATES DUE PROCESS WHEN IT PRESENTS THE TESTIMONY OF A
GOVERNMENT WITNESS KNOWING THAT THE WITNESS WILL GIVE          
          FALSE TESTIMONY ON CROSS-EXAMINATION.

It is a violation of a defendant’s right to due process of law for the government to use

perjured testimony in a trial. Mooney v. Holohan, 294 U.S. 103, 55 S.Ct. 340 (1935); Napue v.

Illinois, 360 U.S. 264, 79 S.Ct. 1173 (1959).

“The prosecution may not use or solicit false evidence, or allow it to go uncorrected.”

United States v. Martin, 59 F.3d 767, 770 (8th Cir. 1995), citing Giglio v. United States, 405 US

150, 154, 92 S.Ct. 763 (1972). To establish a constitutional violation arising from the use of false

testimony, “the testimony must have been perjured, the government must have known it was, and

there must have been a reasonable likelihood that the perjured testimony affected the jury's

determinations.” United States v. Martin, above.

To violate due process, it is not necessary for the government’s prosecutor to elicit the 

false testimony on direct examination. Recognizing that a jury’s determination of the truthfulness

of a given witness may well be determinative of guilt or innocence, the Supreme Court and the

Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals have held that the government uses false testimony, and thereby

denies a defendant fundamental fairness, if a government witness gives false testimony on cross-

examination and the government knows or should know that the testimony is false and fails to

correct the false testimony. Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 154, 92 S.Ct. 763 (1972);  

United States v. Bigeleisen, 625 F.2d 203 (8  Cir., 1980); United States v. Foster, 874 F.2d 491th

(8  Cir. 1988). “[T]o the extent that the government allows (perjured) testimony to goth

uncorrected, perjured testimony will be considered a part of ‘the prosecution’s case,’ even if

elicited by defense counsel on cross-examination.” United States v. Boyd, 833 F.Supp. 1277,

1345 (N.D.Ill. 1993). 

Most appellate cases addressing the issue of the government’s use of perjury involve
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cases in which the purported perjury was discovered after the prosecution witness testified. The

case before this Court is unique in that the Defendant Marshall affirms that he can prove in an

evidentiary hearing that even now, before the trial begins, the government knows its key witness

will testify falsely as to his own lack of guilt in the murder he has been proven to have 

committed. This is not merely a matter of impeachment, but goes to the very subject matter of his

testimony and the government’s case against Mr. Marshall.

Here, the government must be charged with prior knowledge that the key prosecution

witness will give perjured testimony: he will deny prior knowledge, intent to murder, and guilt of

the crime for which he was convicted. Given the legal fact of his conviction (which was affirmed

on appeal), there can no reasonable dispute that Looking Cloud knowingly aided and abetted

murder and that he intended to help murder Aquash. His testimony denying those judicially

proven facts would constitute perjury as a matter of law.

Moreover, in Looking Cloud’s appeal, the government represented to the United States

Court of Appeals in plain and unambiguous language that it was a proven fact in Looking

Cloud’s trial that Arlo Looking Cloud handed the murder weapon to John Graham at the murder

scene. It is a practical certainty that Looking Cloud will deny that fact when questioned on cross-

examination. If the government knows or has reason to know that Looking Cloud will deny that

he handed the gun to Graham, that too constitutes a present intention by the government to

knowingly use perjured testimony in its trial against Richard Marshall.

 The government has stated to the Court of Appeals that Looking Cloud handed a gun to

Graham at the murder scene. If the government had any reason to believe that the evidence it

relied on in Looking Cloud’s trial was false, or that the fact it represented to the Court of Appeals

as true is not true, then the government would have a duty to bring that matter to the attention of

the Court; it has not done so. Therefore, if the government knows that Looking Cloud will testify

on cross-examination that he did not give a gun to Graham, or that he did not take any other

actions to knowingly help murder Anna Mae Aquash, then the government must be held to know

that Looking Cloud is going to give testimony that the government knows is false. 

If the government’s knowledge of Looking Cloud’s intent to testify falsely is admitted or

proven, then, as a matter of law, the government intends to use perjured testimony in its case. 
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II

THE COURT SHOULD ORDER AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING TO
DETERMINE WHETHER THE GOVERNMENT INTENDS TO USE 
                                  FALSE TESTIMONY IN ITS CASE. 

              To establish a violation of due process after conviction, the Defendant has the burden of

establishing that the government’s case included perjured testimony; the defendant must show

that the challenged testimony constituted “the willful assertion under oath of a false, material

fact.”  United States v. Boyd, 833 F.Supp. 1277, 1335 (N.D.Ill. 1993).  Richard Marshall

respectfully submits that he can establish in an evidentiary hearing that the government knows

now, prior to trial, that its key witness will commit the crime of perjury on cross-examination

when he is questioned about his own knowing participation in the murder that would be the

subject matter of his testimony.

The knowing and premeditated use of perjured testimony by the government goes to the

heart of the integrity of the judicial fact finding process. If the government’s intention to call a

witness it knows will testify falsely can be established prior to trial, the Court should not wait

until the government’s witness commits a crime in the courtroom to address the issue. The Court

should know, prior to trial, if the government intends to call a witness who will give perjured

testimony. Just as the Court will preclude a party from calling a witness it knows will assert his

right to remain silent, here, the Court should not wait until the trial has been tainted by perjury to

take appropriate preventive action.

To protect the integrity of the judicial process and the Defendant’s right to fundamental

fairness, the factual question of whether the government’s key witness will give false exculpatory

testimony on cross-examination must be decided before trial.

Therefore, the Court should grant the Defendant’s motion and order the government to

disclose what Looking Cloud’s testimony will be when he is asked these questions on cross-

examination:

– whether Looking Cloud had prior knowledge that Anna Mae Aquash was going to be

murdered before she was shot;

– whether Looking Cloud intended to help murder Aquash; 
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– whether Looking Cloud knowingly acted to aided and abet the murder of Aquash; and

– whether Looking Cloud handed a gun to John Graham at the murder scene.

If the government admits that Looking Cloud will deny those facts when he is cross-

examined, then there would be no contested facts to establish in an evidentiary hearing, and the

court could then make legal rulings on the issue. If, on the other hand, the government denies that

Looking Cloud will give false exculpatory testimony on cross-examination or if the government

claims ignorance as to what the testimony of its key witness will be on these material facts, then

this Court should order that an evidentiary hearing be held in which the Defendant will have an

opportunity to present evidence to prove that the government intends to use false testimony in its

case by calling a witness it knows will commit perjury on cross-examination.

If the government contests the fact that Looking Cloud would testify falsely about his

own guilt and actions, the Court should hear evidence in a pre-trial hearing and make 

preliminary rulings of fact pursuant to FRE Rule 104 as to whether the prosecution’s witness

intends to give false exculpatory testimony in trial; and if the Court finds it is reasonably

foreseeable that Looking Cloud will give perjured testimony if he testifies, the Court should then

make a legal ruling that the use of such testimony by the government would deprive the

Defendant Richard Marshall of due process of law.

DATED: 19 JANUARY 2010

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Dana L. Hanna               
Dana L. Hanna
HANNA LAW OFFICE, P.C.
PO Box 3080
816 Sixth Street
Rapid City, SD 57709
605-791-1832
Counsel for Defendant Marshall
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GOVERNMENT’S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION NO.  1  

WIRETAP OR OTHER TAPE-RECORDED EVIDENCE

You have heard tape recordings of conversations.  These conversations

were legally recorded,  and you may consider the recordings just like any other

evidence.  

Source: 8th Circuit Model Pattern Jury Instruction §2.5.



GOVERNMENT’S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION NO.   2  

TRANSCRIPT OF TAPE-RECORDED CONVERSATION

There is a typewritten transcript of the tape recordings you have heard. 

The transcript also undertakes to identify the speakers engaged in the

conversation.

You are permitted to have the transcript for the limited purpose of helping

you follow the conversation as you listen to the tape recording, and also to help

you keep track of the speakers.  Differences in meaning between what you hear

in the recording and read in the transcript may be caused by such things as the

inflection in a speaker's voice.  It is what you hear, however, and not what you

read, that is the evidence.  

You are specifically instructed that whether the transcript correctly or

incorrectly reflects the conversation or the identity of the speakers is entirely for

you to decide based upon what you have heard here about the preparation of the

transcript, and upon your own examination of the transcript in relation to what you

hear on the tape recording.  If you decide that the transcript is in any respect

incorrect or unreliable, you should disregard it to that extent.

Source: 8th Circuit Pattern Jury Instruction §2.06; see also, United States v.
Arlo Looking Cloud, Jury Instruction No. 9 (modified).



 GOVERNMENT’S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION NO.   3  

STATEMENTS BY THE DEFENDANT

You have heard testimony the defendant made statements to law

enforcement and to other witnesses.  It is for you to decide as to each purported

statement:

first, whether the defendant made the statement; and

second, if so, how much weight you should give to it.

In making these two decisions you should consider all of the evidence,

including the circumstances under which the statement may have been made.

Source: 8th Circuit Model Pattern Jury Instruction §2.07, See also, United
States v. Arlo Looking Cloud, Jury Instruction No. 10.



GOVERNMENT’S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION NO.   4  

INFLUENCING WITNESS, ETC.

Attempts by a defendant to make up evidence or influence a witness in

connection with the crime charged in this case may be considered by you in light

of all other evidence in the case.  You may consider whether this evidence shows

a consciousness of guilt and determine the significance to be attached to any

such conduct. 

Source: 8th Circuit Model Pattern Jury Instruction §4.09.



GOVERNMENT’S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION NO.   5  

OPINION EVIDENCE, EXPERT WITNESS

You have heard testimony from persons described as experts.  Persons

who, by knowledge, skill, training, education or experience, have become expert

in some field may state their opinions on matters in that field and may also state

the reasons for their opinion. 

Expert testimony should be considered just like any other testimony.  You

may accept or reject it, and give it as much weight as you think it deserves,

considering the witness' education and experience, the soundness of the reasons

given for the opinion, the acceptability of the methods used, and all the other

evidence in the case.

Source: 8th Circuit Model Pattern Jury Instruction §4.10.  United States v.
Arlo Looking Cloud, Instruction No. 13.



GOVERNMENT’S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION NO.   6  

SILENCE IN THE FACE OF ACCUSATION

Evidence has been introduced that a statement accusing the defendant of

the crime charged in the Indictment was made, and that the defendant did not

deny the accusation or object to the statement.  If you find the defendant was

present and actually heard and understood the statement, and that it was made

under such circumstances that the defendant would be expected to deny or

object to it if it were not true, then you may consider whether the defendant’s

silence was an admission of truth of the statement. 

Source: 8th Circuit Pattern Jury Instruction §4.14.  See generally, Jenkins v.
Anderson, 447 U.S. 231 (1980);  Fletcher v. Weir, 455 U.S. 603
(1982).  Post-arrest silence by a defendant after Miranda warnings
have been given is inadmissible against the defendant.  Doyle v.
Ohio, 426 U.S. 610 (1976).  If a defendant gives a statement,
however, his silence as to other matters may be admitted.  Anderson
v. Charles, 447 U.S. 404 (1980); see United States v. Mitchell, 558
F.2d 1332, 1334-35 (8th Cir. 1997).  A defendant’s pre-arrest silence
may be admitted, Jenkins v. Anderson, 447 U.S. 231 (1980) as well
as silence after arrest but prior to warnings.  Fletcher v. Weir, 455
U.S. 603 (1982).



GOVERNMENT’S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION NO.   7  

FALSE EXCULPATORY STATEMENTS

When a defendant voluntarily and intentionally offers an explanation, or

makes some statement before trial tending to show his innocence, and this

explanation or statement is later shown to be false, you may consider whether

this evidence points to a consciousness of guilt.  The significance to be attached

to any such evidence is a matter for you to determine.  

Source: 8th Circuit Model Pattern Jury Instructions §4.15 (committee
comment).  False exculpatory statements are properly admissible as
substantive evidence tending to show consciousness of guilt.  
United States v. Hudson, 717 F.2d 1211, 1215 (8th Cir. 1983). This
Circuit has repeatedly held that an instruction of this nature "is
properly given when a defendant . . . offers an exculpatory
explanation which is later proven to be false."  United States v.
Wells, 702 F.2d 141, 144 (8th Cir. 1983); United States v. Hudson,
717 F.2d 1211 (8th Cir. 1983); see also Rizzo v. United States, 304
F.2d 810, 830 (8th Cir. 1962). 

Wells also held that such an instruction does not unfairly penalize
the criminal defendant who, upon confrontation, denies the crime
rather than remain silent.  702 F.2d at 144.  Hudson further held
such an instruction proper because it permits the jury to attach as
much or as little significance to the statement as it chooses.  717
F.2d at 1215.

United States v. Toby Bolzer, CR 02-50025 (D. SD).



GOVERNMENT’S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION NO.   8  

INDICTMENT TIME FRAME

The Superseding Indictment charges that the offense alleged was

committed “on or about” a certain date.  Although it is necessary for the

government to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the offense was committed

on a date reasonably near the date alleged in the Superseding Indictment, it is

not necessary for the government to prove that the offense was committed

precisely on the date charged.

Source: United States v. Arlo Looking Cloud, Instruction No. 17.



GOVERNMENT’S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION NO.   9  

MURDER STATUTE

18 U.S.C. § 1111 provides:

Murder is the lawful killing of a human being with malice aforethought. . . . .

[A]ny . . . . kind of willful, deliberate, malicious, and premeditated killing ... is

murder in the first degree.

Source: United States v. Arlo Looking Cloud, Instruction No. 18.  18 U.S.C. §
1111.



GOVERNMENT’S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION NO.   10  

MURDER, FIRST DEGREE, WITHIN SPECIAL MARITIME AND

TERRITORIAL JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES

The crime of murder in the first degree as charged in Count I of the

Superseding Indictment has five (5) essential elements, which are:

One:           That the defendant, at the time and place alleged in the           

Superseding Indictment, killed, or aided and abetted the killing           

of, Annie Mae Aquash aka Annie Mae Pictou.

Two: That the defendant did so with malice aforethought as defined  

 in Instruction No.          .

Three: That the killing was premeditated as defined in Instruction No.  

        .

Four:           That the defendant is an Indian or aided and abetted an Indian  

                              in the commission of the offense.

Five:            That the offense took place in Indian Country.

To sustain its burden of proof for the crime of first degree murder as

charged in the Superseding Indictment, the government must prove all of these

essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt, otherwise you must find the

defendant not guilty of this crime.



Source: 8th Circuit Pattern Jury Instructions 6.18.1111A, and 5.01 (aiding
and abetting).

18 U.S.C. § 2 provides as follows:  

(a) Whoever commits an offense against the United States or
aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces or procures its
commission, is punishable as a principal.

(b) Whoever willfully causes an act to be done which if directly
performed by him or another would be an offense against the
United States, is punishable as a principal.

 United States v. Roan Eagle, 867 F.2d 436, 445 (8th Cir.) cert. denied 490 U.S.
1028 (1989) (“to be guilty of aiding and abetting is to be guilty as if one were a
principal of the underlying offense.  Aiding and abetting is not a separate crime
but rather is linked to the underlying offense and shares a reckless intent of the
offense.”)  H.R. Rep. No. 1038, 94th Cong., 2d Sess, 1 reprinted in 1976 US
Code Cong. & Admin. News 1125 (Congress’ desire that Indians and non-Indians
committing the same crime be subject to the same punishment was clearly
expressed in the legislative history of the 1976 amendments to the Major Crimes
Act).  United States v. Walking Eagle, 974 F.2d 551, 553 (4th Cir. 1992) (under
the Major Crimes Act, a federal court has jurisdiction over a non-enumerated
offense if, as a matter of federal trial procedure, the court is permitted to instruct
the jury on the lesser included, non-enumerated offense).  United States v.
Yankton, 168 F.3d 1096, 1097-98 (8th Cir. 1999) (federal jurisdiction for
accessory after the fact pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3).  Felicia v. United States, 495
F.2d 353, 355 (8th Cir. 1974) (federal jurisdiction in the context of lesser included
offenses).  United States v. White Horse, 316 F.3d 769, 772-73 (8th Cir. 2003)
(even if non-Indian status was element of charge violation of 1152, government’s
failure to prove non-Indian status was not error since the defendant’s conviction
was sustainable under 1153 if he was an Indian, and under 1152 if he was not);
see also United States v. Driver, 945 F.2d 1410 (8th Cir. 1991).



GOVERNMENT’S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION NO.   11  

MURDER, FIRST DEGREE, WITHIN SPECIAL MARITIME AND

TERRITORIAL JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES

The crime of murder in the first degree as charged in Count II of the

Superseding Indictment has five (5) essential elements, which are:

One. That the defendant, at the time and place alleged in the

Superseding Indictment, killed, or aided and abetted the killing

of, Annie Mae Aquash aka Annie Mae Pictou.

Two: That the defendant did so with malice aforethought as defined  

in Instruction No.          .

Three: That the killing was premeditated as defined in Instruction No.  

        .

Four.  That Annie Mae Aquash aka Annie Mae Pictou was an Indian.

Five. That the offense took place in Indian Country.

To sustain its burden of proof for the crime of first degree murder as

charged in the Superseding Indictment, the government must prove all of these

essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt, otherwise you must find the

defendant not guilty of this crime.



Source: 8th Circuit Pattern Jury Instructions 6.18.1111A, and 5.01 (aiding
and abetting).

18 U.S.C. § 2 provides as follows:  

(a) Whoever commits an offense against the United States or
aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces or procures its
commission, is punishable as a principal.

(b) Whoever willfully causes an act to be done which if directly
performed by him or another would be an offense against the
United States, is punishable as a principal.

 United States v. Roan Eagle, 867 F.2d 436, 445 (8th Cir.) cert. denied 490 U.S.
1028 (1989) (“to be guilty of aiding and abetting is to be guilty as if one were a
principal of the underlying offense.  Aiding and abetting is not a separate crime
but rather is linked to the underlying offense and shares a reckless intent of the
offense.”)  H.R. Rep. No. 1038, 94th Cong., 2d Sess, 1 reprinted in 1976 US
Code Cong. & Admin. News 1125 (Congress’ desire that Indians and non-Indians
committing the same crime be subject to the same punishment was clearly
expressed in the legislative history of the 1976 amendments to the Major Crimes
Act).  United States v. Walking Eagle, 974 F.2d 551, 553 (4th Cir. 1992) (under
the Major Crimes Act, a federal court has jurisdiction over a non-enumerated
offense if, as a matter of federal trial procedure, the court is permitted to instruct
the jury on the lesser included, non-enumerated offense).  United States v.
Yankton, 168 F.3d 1096, 1097-98 (8th Cir. 1999) (federal jurisdiction for
accessory after the fact pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3).  Felicia v. United States, 495
F.2d 353, 355 (8th Cir. 1974) (federal jurisdiction in the context of lesser included
offenses).  United States v. White Horse, 316 F.3d 769, 772-73 (8th Cir. 2003)
(even if non-Indian status was element of charge violation of 1152, government’s
failure to prove non-Indian status was not error since the defendant’s conviction
was sustainable under 1153 if he was an Indian, and under 1152 if he was not);
see also United States v. Driver, 945 F.2d 1410 (8th Cir. 1991).
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AIDING AND ABETTING

A person may be found guilty of first degree murder even if he personally

did not do every act constituting the offense charged, if he aided and abetted the

commission of first degree murder. 

In order to have aided and abetted the commission of a crime a person

must, before or at the time the crime was committed:

1. Have known first degree murder was being committed or going to be

committed; and

2. Have knowingly acted in some way for the purpose of causing,

encouraging, or aiding the commission of first degree murder.

For you to find the defendant guilty of first degree murder by reason of

aiding and abetting, the government must prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that

all of the essential elements of first degree murder were committed by some

person or persons and that the defendant aided and abetted the commission of

that crime.

You should understand that merely being present at the scene of an event,

or merely acting in the same way as others or merely associating with others,

does not prove that a person has become an aider and abettor.  A person who

has no knowledge that a crime is being committed or about to be committed, but

who happens to act in a way which advances some offense, does not thereby

become an aider and abettor.



Source: 8th Circuit Model Jury Instruction §5.01; United States v. Arlo
Looking Cloud, Instruction No. 20.
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MALICE AFORETHOUGHT DEFINED

As used in these instructions, "malice aforethought" means an intent, at the

time of a killing, willfully to take the life of a human being, or an intent willfully to

act in callous and wanton disregard of the consequences to human life; but

"malice aforethought" does not necessarily imply any ill will, spite or hatred

towards the individual killed.

In determining whether Annie Mae Aquash aka Annie Mae Pictou was

unlawfully killed with malice aforethought, you should consider all the evidence

concerning the facts and circumstances preceding, surrounding and following the

killing which tend to shed light upon the question of intent.

Source: 8th Circuit Pattern Jury Instruction §6.18.1111A-1; United States v.
Arlo Looking Cloud Jury Instruction No. 21.
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PREMEDITATION DEFINED

A killing is premeditated when it is intentional and the result of planning or

deliberation.  The amount of time needed for premeditation of a killing depends

on the person and the circumstances.  It must be long enough for the defendant,

after forming the intent to kill, to be fully conscious of his intent, and to have

thought about the killing. 

For there to be premeditation the defendant must think about the taking of

a human life before acting.  The amount of time required for premeditation cannot

be arbitrarily fixed.  The time required varies as the minds and temperaments of

people differ and according to the surrounding circumstances in which they may

be placed.  Any interval of time between forming the intent to kill, and acting on

that intent, which is long enough for the defendant to be fully conscious and

mindful of what he intended and willfully set about to do, is sufficient to justify the

finding of premeditation.

Source: 8th Circuit Pattern Jury Instruction §6.18.1111A-2; United States v.
Arlo Looking Cloud Jury Instruction No. 22.
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PROOF OF INTENT OR KNOWLEDGE

Intent or knowledge may be proved like anything else.  You may consider

any statements made and acts done by the defendant, and all the facts and

circumstances in evidence that may aid in a determination of the defendant's

knowledge or intent.

You may, but are not required to, infer that a person intends the natural

and probable consequences of acts knowingly done or knowingly omitted.

Source: 8th Circuit Pattern Jury Instruction §7.05; United States v. Arlo
Looking Cloud Jury Instruction No. 23.
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KNOWINGLY

An act is done knowingly if the defendant is aware of the act and does not

act through ignorance, mistake or accident.  The government is not required to

prove that the defendant knew that his acts or omissions were unlawful. You may

consider evidence of the defendant’s words, acts, or omissions, along with all the

other evidence, in deciding whether the defendant acted knowingly.

Source: 8th Circuit Pattern Jury Instruction §7.03 (committee comments
modified); United States v. Arlo Looking Cloud Jury Instruction No.
24 (modified).
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“INDIAN” DEFINED

An “Indian” is a person who:

(1) has some Indian blood; and

(2) the person is “recognized” as an Indian.

In determining whether a person is recognized as an Indian you may

consider, among other matters:

(a) whether the person is enrolled in a tribe.

(b) whether the government has recognized either formally or informally

that the person is an Indian through providing the person with

assistance reserved only to Indians.

(c) whether the person enjoys the benefits of tribal affiliation.

(d) whether the person is socially recognized as an Indian through living

on the reservation and participating in Indian social life.

The term “Indian Country” includes, but is not limited to, all land within the

limits of any Indian reservation under the jurisdiction of the United States

government, notwithstanding the issuance of any patent, and, including rights-of-

way running through the reservation.

Source: United States v. Arlo Looking Cloud Jury Instruction No. 25
(modified); United States v. Lawrence, 51 F.3d 150, 153 (8th Cir.
1995) (citing St. Cloud v. United States, 702 F. Supp. 1456 (D.S.D.
1988)); United States v. Torres, 733 F.2d 449, 456 (7th Cir. 1984);
United States v. Bruce, 394 F.3d 1215, 1223-24 (9th Cir. 2005);
United States v. Dodge, 538 F.2d 770, 786 (8th Cir. 1976) (emphasis
on importance of individual having held themselves out to be Indian).
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Plaintiff,                 
UNITED STATES’ RESPONSE TO

vs. DEFENDANT MARSHALL’S
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JOHN GRAHAM, a/k/a INSTRUCTION ON READ BACK 
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VINE RICHARD MARSHALL a/k/a
RICHARD VINE MARSHALL a/k/a
DICK MARSHALL,  

Defendants.
_________________________________

COMES NOW the United States of America, through its attorneys, United

States Attorney Brendan V. Johnson, and Assistant United States Attorney Robert

A. Mandel, and responds to Defendant Marshall’s motion for preliminary instruction

on read back of testimony as follows:

1.  The United States agrees that the question of allowing the court reporter

to read back trial testimony to the jury if there is such a request from the jury

during deliberations is within the discretion of the trial court.  

2.  The United States does not agree that it is appropriate to instruct the trial

jury that it will be allowed to hear testimony read back to it during its deliberations. 



Whether or not such a request of the trial jury should be granted is something for

the trial court to decide on the basis of what it seeks and the availability of such

testimony.  In general, it is fairly unusual for the trial jury to have trial testimony

read back and the jurors are told to rely on their memories.

3.  Defendant cites the potential length of the trial as a reason to instruct the

jury that it will be allowed to have testimony read back.  Counsel for the United

States is unaware of any case in which the jury has been instructed as Defendant

seeks in this case, including cases of great complexity lasting several weeks.  If the

jury of its own volition seeks a read back of some testimony, it is the position of the

United States that the court should consider and make its appropriate ruling at

that time.

Respectfully submitted this 22nd day of January, 2010.

 /s/ Robert A. Mandel  
                                                                   
ROBERT A. MANDEL
Assistant United States Attorney
515 9th Street #201
Rapid City, SD 57701
605.342..7822
FAX: 605.342.1108
Robert.Mandel@usdoj.gov
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Attorney at Law
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